Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-13-2008

EVCO Sound & Electronics v. Seaboard Sur. Co. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 34898

A.	Summary of Argument
В.	Factual Background 1. Parties / Interested Companies 2. The Project 3. Negotiations Between EVCO and Cedar Street 4. The Parties' Testimony Regarding the Intention to Execute a Written Subcontract or Written Purchase Order 5. The Joint Check Agreement 6. Materials and Labor Supplied By EVCO to the Project 7. EVCO's Request for Additional Payment 11
	8. Completion of the Project
C.	Procedural History
II. <u>ISSUES</u>	S PRESENTED ON APPEAL
III. <u>ATTO</u>	RNEYS' FEES ON APPEAL
IV. <u>ARGU</u>	<u>MENT</u>
A.	The District Court Erred as a Matter of Law in Holding that its Findings of Fact Demonstrated an Express Contract Between EVCO and Cedar Street
В.	The District Court Erred in Awarding EVCO Expectation Damages
C.	EVCO's Notice of Claim and Action Were Untimely under the Idaho Public Contract Bond Act
D.	The Idaho Statute of Frauds Bars EVCO's Claim Against Seaboard
V. CONCI	<u>LUSION</u>

TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

CASES

Barry v. Pacific West Const., Inc., 140 Idaho 827, 103, P.3d 440 (2004) 16, 23-25
Beco Corp v. Roberts & Sons Const. Co., Inc., 114 Idaho 704, 760 P.2d 1120 (1988) 38
Brothers v. Arave, 67 Idaho 171, 174 P.2d 202 (1946)
C.H. Leavell v. Grafe & Assoc., Inc., 90 Idaho 502, 414 P.2d 873 (1966)3, 17, 22, 23, 26, 33
Continental Forest Prods., Inc. v. Chandler Supply Co., 95 Idaho 739, 518 P.2d 1201 (1974)
EIMCO Div. of Envirotech Corp. v. United Pac. Ins. Co., 109 Idaho 762, 710 P.2d 672 (Ct. App. 1985)
Fox v. Mountain West Electric, Inc., 137 Idaho 703, 59 P.3d 878 (2002)
General Electric Co. v. Webco Const. Co., 164 Colo. 232, 433 P.2d 760 (Colo. 1967)
Great Plains Equip., Inc. v. Northwest Pipeline Corp., 132 Idaho 754, 979 P.2d 627 (1999) 16
H.W. Johns-Mannville Co. v. Allen, 37 Idaho 153, 215 P. 840 (1923)
Intermountain Forest Management v. Louisiana Pacific Corp., 136 Idaho 233, 31 P.3d 921 (2001)
LeGrand Steel Prods., Co. v. A.S.C. Constructors, Inc., 108 Idaho 817, 702 P.2d 855 (Ct. App. 1985)
Miller Const. Co. v. Stresstek, 108 Idaho 187, 697 P.2d 1201 (Ct. App. 1985)
Mitchell v. Flandro, 95 Idaho 228, 506 P.2d 455 (1972)
Mitchell v. Siqueiros, 99 Idaho 396, 582 P.2d 1074 (1978)

Oldcastle Precast v. ParkTowne Const., Inc., 142 Idaho 376, 128 P.3d 913 (2005)
Potts Const. Co. v. North Kootenai Water Dist., 141 Idaho 678, 116 P.3d 8 (2005) 17, 21
R.D. Bischoff v. Quong-Watkins Properties, 113 Idaho 826, 748 P.2d 410 (1987)
Thompson v. Pike, 122 Idaho 690, 838 P.2d 293 (1992)
U.S. ex rel PRN Associates, Inc. v. K & S Enterprises, Inc., 2007 WL 925267 (S.D. Ind. March 27, 2007)
U.S.A. ex. rel. Interstate Mechanical Contractors, Inc. v. International Fidelity Insurance Co., 200 F.3d 456 (6th Cir. 2000)
STATUTES
Idaho Code § 12-121
Idaho Code § 28-2-201
Idaho Code § 45-501
Idaho Code § 54-1925
Idaho Code § 54-1927
Idaho Code § 54-1929
OTHER AUTHORITIES
R. S. Means, Means Illustrated Construction Dictionary, 3rd Ed., 2000
Restatement (Second) of Contracts, 8344

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Summary of Argument

In this action, EVCO Sound and Electronics, Inc. ("EVCO") seeks payment against Seaboard Surety Company's ("Seaboard") payment bond issued pursuant to Idaho Code § 54-1927 and for breach of contract against Cedar Street Electric and Control, Inc. ("Cedar Street"). The matter proceeded to trial before the Honorable John T. Mitchell in August, 2007. The court issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order on November 19, 2007, entering judgment in favor of EVCO and against Seaboard finding that EVCO and Cedar Street had entered into an express contract by virtue of their conduct and that EVCO's claims and suit were timely filed. Seaboard is appealing from this judgment.

To prevail on its claim against Seaboard, EVCO must prove (1) it had a contract to supply labor and materials to Cedar Street and that as a lower tier subcontractor, (2) it provided proper notice to the general contractor within 90 days of EVCO's last labor and materials, and (3) it filed suit within one year of the date it last supplied labor and materials.

Seaboard's appeal relates to both the contract formation issues between EVCO and Cedar Street, as well as the notice and limitations issues. Regarding the contract formation issues, Seaboard submits that the district court erred as a matter of law and disregarded well established Idaho law concerning contract formation in holding that EVCO and Cedar Street created an express contract by their conduct. Prior to trial, the district court in its Order Denying Summary Judgment,

determined there was **no express crontact** established between EVCO and Cedar Street. The district court stated:

In turn, Cedar Street *entered into negotiations* with plaintiff Evco Sound & Electronics, Inc., to perform portions of the "low voltage" electrical work on the project. Evco proposed to supply labor and materials to Cedar Street for the fire alarm, intercom, telephone and television media section of the project. Although Evco and Cedar Street discussed the scope of the work and looked to enter into a written subcontract, *the parties never entered into a formal express contract*.

(R., p. 239-40) (emphasis added). The district court went on to hold that questions of fact existed regarding whether the parties reached an oral contract. (R., p. 245-48).

After trial, in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, however, the district court found that although the parties intended to formalize any subcontract agreement with a formal written subcontract, an *express contract* was created by the *conduct of the parties*, notwithstanding the parties' failure to execute the intended written contract. The district court stated:

Kevin Bauer of EVCO and Mike Coulter and Jim Kuzmich of Cedar Street, all testified they intended to reduce their agreement to a signed written subcontract or a written purchase order, or a joint check agreement. All three were created, but none of the three were signed by both parties. Regardless, this Court finds the *conduct of the parties shows a meeting of the minds occurred and a contract was formed* in the amount of \$132,688.04, less the Idaho Use Tax amount of \$3,258.04, for a total contract price of \$129,430.00.

(R., p. 262) (bold italic emphasis added).

Seaboard respectfully submits the district court applied an implied in fact contract analysis to establish an express contract, and thereby ignored long-standing Idaho contract law. The district court's decision runs directly contrary to this Court's decision in *Mitchell v. Siqueiros*, 99 Idaho 396, 582 P.2d 1074 (1978), *Intermountain Forest Management v. Louisiana Pacific Corp.*, 136 Idaho

233, 31 P.3d 921 (2001), and C.H. Leavell v. Grafe & Assoc., Inc., 90 Idaho 502, 414 P.2d 873 (1966), and amounts to an error of law. The district court disregarded the evidence in order to conclude an express contract arose between EVCO and Cedar Street.

With respect to the notice and timeliness of EVCO's claims and action, Seaboard respectfully submits that the alleged "work" on which EVCO predicates its claimed timeliness is insufficient under Idaho Code § 54-1927. EVCO claims it performed its last work in April of 2005 (training school district personnel and fine-tuning the TV system), and in June of 2005 (sending as-built drawings). Seaboard respectfully submits these actions are insufficient to qualify as "work" under Idaho Code § 54-1927, thereby extending the dates to provide notice and file suit. This is particularly true based upon all parties' agreement, as well as documentary evidence, that the Timberlake Junior High School Project (the "Project") was substantially completed in January of 2005. The Lakeland School District No. 272 ("School District") began operating the Project as a school on January 28, 2005.

Finally, regarding EVCO's claimed damages, this issue is directly related to the determination as to whether an express contract was formed between EVCO and Cedar Street. As set forth in EVCO's Exhibit 22, EVCO admits that it can only account for \$51,108.63 worth of labor and materials, freight and taxes EVCO supplied to the Project. This is true, notwithstanding the breakout of labor and materials far exceeding these amounts by EVCO's prior bid proposals designated as Exhibits 8 and 18. EVCO was paid an amount exceeding its costs as listed in Exhibit

22, however, EVCO seeks to recover its expectation damages of \$79,3363.04 against a third party – Seaboard.

B. Factual Background

1. Parties / Interested Companies

EVCO is a Washington corporation, principally located in Spokane, Washington. EVCO conducts business as a low-voltage electrical supply and installation company. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 5, l. 6-25). EVCO business is comprised of 80% public works projects, 60% of which are school projects such as the project at issue in this matter. In the year in question, 2005, EVCO's gross revenue was approximately 6.4 million dollars. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 102, l. 4-17).

Seaboard is a surety licensed to provide surety bonds in Idaho. (R., p. 2, 11, and 39).

Cedar Street is an Idaho corporation, principally located in Sandpoint, Idaho. Cedar Street was an electrical contractor, licensed with the State of Idaho and maintained Idaho public works license No. 11613-A-4. (R., p. 2; Ex. 9; Tr. Vol. II, p. 61, l. 11-16)). Cedar Street was the electrical subcontract on the project in question. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 38, l. 6-24).

Although not a party to the action, Ormond Builders, Inc. ("Ormond Builders") was the principal on the bond issued by Seaboard as Bond No. SS7377 (the "Bond"). (Ex. 1). Ormond Builders was the general contractor on the project at issue. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 195, l. 25 - p. 197, l. 9).

¹ The transcript is divided into two volumes as follows: Volume I – August 27, 2007 (direct examination of Kevin Bauer only); and Volume II – August 27, 2007 (remainder of trial).

2. The Project

The School District was the owner of the Project. Ormond Builders and Seaboard issued payment and performance bonds pursuant to Idaho Code § 54-1927. (Ex. 1). Ormond Builders subcontracted the entire electrical portion of the Project to Cedar Street in April of 2004, pursuant to a written Subcontract Agreement (Ex. M), which incorporated by reference the Project prime contract documents with the School District, which included the Prime Contract General and Supplementary Conditions. (Ex. M, p. 1).

3. Negotiations Between EVCO and Cedar Street

In or about March of 2004, EVCO prepared a bid form for portions of the electrical work on the Project, which was characterized by the parties as including "low voltage" electrical work for the amount of \$165,850.00. (Ex. 4). Approximately one week after Exhibit 4 was prepared, and pursuant to discussions between EVCO and Cedar Street, EVCO revised its pricing on Plaintiff's Exhibit 4 to include Idaho sales or use tax at 6%. (Ex. 8). EVCO's revised bid identified a price of \$170,161.00. (Ex. 8).

From March through the end of June 2004, EVCO made several revisions and changes to its bids. (Exhibit 12 and 18). There was testimony from EVCO, Cedar Street and Ormond Builders that during this time period there was an effort to "value engineer" portions of the work to reduce the amount of work and save money for the owner because the Project was over budget. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 21, 1. 11 - p. 22, 1. 6; p. 39, 1. 6-20; p. 145, 1. 13 - p. 146, 1. 11). In June of 2004, Cedar Street and EVCO exchanged a number of facsimiles discussing the potential scope of an agreement

between EVCO and Cedar Street and the price to be paid for such work. (Ex. 14, 15, and F). Cedar Street wanted EVCO to be bound by the same agreement it had with Ormond Builders and used its subcontract with Ormond Builders to draft a subcontract for EVCO. Cedar Street went to the extraordinary step of scanning and changing its subcontract with Ormond Builders to prepare a written subcontract for EVCO should it reach an agreement with EVCO. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 43, 1. 17 - p. 44, 1. 25). From the documents exchanged between Cedar Street and EVCO, however, the parties never reached an agreement as to the scope of work which EVCO might perform on the Project or the amount EVCO would be paid by Cedar Street. (Ex. 15 and Ex. F).

Both James Kuzmich and Mike Coulter of Cedar Street testified that Cedar Street sought to self-perform more of the low-voltage work in order to reduce the amount of any potential subcontract with EVCO. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 46, l. 7-13; p. 77, l. 10 - p. 78, l. 6). Moreover, both Mr. Kuzmich and Mr. Coulter testified that Cedar Street never reached an agreement with EVCO regarding the scope of work the parties would perform or the price to be paid for the Project. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 45, l. 4 - p. 46, l. 2; p. 55, l. 5 - p. 56, l. 1; p. 76, l. 6 - p. 78, l. 25).

4. The Parties' Testimony Regarding the Intention to Execute a Written Subcontract or Written Purchase Order

Both EVCO (Kevin Bauer) and Cedar Street (Mike Coulter and Jim Kuzmich) testified regarding their respective intentions to reduce any agreement to a signed *written* subcontract or written purchase order.² (Tr. Vol. II, p. 20, l. 15 - p. 21, l. 2; p. 45, l. 20 - p. 46, l. 3; p. 63, l. 17 - p.

² Mr. Bauer's testimony is confusing at best regarding receipt of Cedar Street's proposed subcontract, and bears review by the Court. (*See* also Bauer deposition p. 25, l. 10 - p. 26, l. 9). Ultimately, however, he conceded he too anticipated a written contract. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 20, l. 15 -

65, l. 16). Mike Coulter testified that he understood that *if* an agreement were reached between EVCO and Cedar Street, such agreement would be reduced to a written subcontract or written purchase order executed between the two companies. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 45, l. 20 - p. 46, l. 3).

On June 14, 2004, Cedar Street's project manager, Mr. Coulter sent a facsimile (Ex. 14) to EVCO indicating that Cedar Street "intended" to enter into a contract with EVCO and that a proposed subcontract would be sent. Mr. Coulter also requested that EVCO supply "back cans" to the Project. (Ex. 14). On June 22, 2004, Mr. Coulter sent a facsimile to EVCO (Ex. 15 and Ex. F), attaching a proposed subcontract, requesting EVCO's review of the same. Mr. Coulter testified that he left blank the scope of work and price in the subcontract because the parties had not reached an agreement. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 45, l. 4-9). Mr. Coulter testified that there was never an agreement between Cedar Street and EVCO as to the scope of work EVCO would perform or the price it would be paid. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 55, l. 5 - p. 56, l. 1).

Mr. Kuzmich, the owner of Cedar Street, also testified that it was always his intention to enter into a written subcontract with EVCO, *if* the parties could reach an agreement as to the scope of work EVCO would perform and the price it would be paid on the Project. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 78, l. 22-25). Mr. Kuzmich testified that it was standard practice for Cedar Street to use signed agreements on subcontracts of the magnitude of the proposal from EVCO. Mr. Kuzmich testified that Cedar Street had previously used form subcontracts from other general contractors, to subcontract work and bind lower tier subcontractors to Cedar Street. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 63, l. 17 - p. 65, l. 19).

p. 21, 1. 2).

After rather extensive cross examination on the issue, Mr. Bauer also agreed that as the owner of EVCO, he anticipated that EVCO and Cedar Street would execute a written subcontract or written purchase order *if* the parties could reach an agreement regarding the scope of work to be performed by the parties and the price to be paid to EVCO. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 20, 1. 15 - p. 21, 1. 2).

Additionally, the Project Specifications at general condition 5.3.1 require Ormond Builders to use contracts to subcontract work, where required by Idaho law to be valid and binding. (Ex. N, p. 23). The subcontract between Ormond Builders and Cedar Street incorporated the general conditions into that subcontract, such that Cedar Street was bound to only subcontract work pursuant to a written agreement. (Ex. M). Mr. Bauer admitted that no one on behalf of Cedar Street or Ormond Builders ever signed any document agreeing to any of EVCO's bids, Exhibits 4, 8, 12, or 18. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 10, 1, 4-10).

5. The Joint Check Agreement

On or about June 23, 2004, Cedar Street sent an unsigned joint check agreement to EVCO. (Ex. 16). The proposed joint check agreement listed an incorrect corporate name for EVCO, and listed a proposed amount for materials, which differed from any of the amounts previously discussed between EVCO and Cedar Street. The proposed joint check agreement lists EVCO as only a material supplier (not a subcontractor) in three different places. (Ex. 16). Mr. Bauer signed the joint check agreement on behalf of EVCO. (Ex. 16). No one from Cedar Street ever signed the proposed joint check agreement, nor did Ormond Builders ever sign the proposed joint check agreement. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 65, l. 22-25; p. 127, l. 17 - p. 132, l. 5; Ex. 16).

Mr. Hostert of Ormond Builders testified that Mr. Kuzmich of Cedar Street advised him that Cedar Street was declining to execute the proposed joint check agreement, because it was "no longer necessary" and Cedar Street anticipated performing more of the low-voltage electrical work, rather than subcontracting with EVCO to perform that work. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 129, l. 17 - p. 132, l. 5).

On behalf of Ormond Builders, Mr. Ormond testified concerning the difference between a "notice of intent" to contract and a "notice to proceed". Mr. Ormond testified that in the construction industry, a notice of intent to contract is used when parties have not yet reached an agreement as to the price, scope of work or terms of a contract. It is used to identify the potential that parties may contract, but does not create the contract between them. Mr. Ormond testified that "notice to proceed" is used in the construction industry once a contract is reached by the parties and "notice to proceed" directs that work commence under the terms of the contract. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 191, l. 7 - p. 193, l. 20).

6. Materials and Labor Supplied By EVCO to the Project

Despite the lack of an executed written subcontract or purchase order between Cedar Street and EVCO, EVCO did provide materials and minimal labor to the Project, which is detailed and listed in Exhibit 22. (Ex. 22). Pursuant to Exhibit 22, EVCO provided \$45,393.16 in materials to the Project. Mr. Bauer was unable to identify any materials supplied to the Project, which were not included in the materials listed in Exhibit 22. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 25, l. 24 - p. 26, l. 2).

EVCO tracked its field labor on the Project, and listed its technician for field labor in Exhibit 22 in the amount of \$4,454.27. Although EVCO purports to have incurred additional "labor" costs

in the amount of its claim (\$79,343.03) it did not and pursuant to Mr. Bauer's testimony EVCO can not track such labor to substantiate its claimed damages. Mr. Bauer could not testify with any degree of specificity as to labor supplied to the Project, other than as detailed in Exhibit 22. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 27, l. 11-24). Thus, the only valid evidence before the court as to EVCO's expenses was that contained in Exhibit 22.

Mr. Bauer also testified that EVCO sent its billings directly to Cedar Street. EVCO's last billing invoice is Invoice No. 6710 in the amount of \$8,350.00. That billing invoice as submitted in EVCO's claim to Seaboard was dated February 11, 2005, as identified in Exhibit 2, attachment b, bates label 298. However, the same billing invoice number and amount appears to have been changed in Exhibit 20, to reflect a later billing date of March 22, 2005. Incidentally, the first copy of this billing invoice, dated February 11, 2005, bears a facsimile legend at the top which predates the copy of the invoice provided in Exhibit 20, dated March 22, 2005. Mr. Bauer testified that EVCO bills for work only after it has been completed, in the form of a progress billing identifying the percentage completed as of the date of the invoice. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 24, l. 3 - p. 25, l. 1).

Further, as to the issue of mark-ups, although Mr. Bauer testified on direct examination in EVCO's case in chief regarding mark-up rates it expects to earn on work such as the Project, Mr. Bauer later admitted Cedar Street never agreed to any mark-up rate or amount. He also admitted no one at Ormond Builders agreed to a mark-up rate or amount. Finally, he admitted that he did not and does not discuss EVCO's mark-up amount or rates with contractors. There was no evidence

presented of any agreement between EVCO and Cedar Street regarding the amount of a "mark-up" for EVCO. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 117, l. 22 - p. 118, l. 8).

7. EVCO's Request for Additional Payment

At or near the date of substantial completion of the Project, Mr. Bauer contacted Mr. Hostert to inform him that Cedar Street owed payment to EVCO on the Project. Mr. Hostert testified that he requested that Mr. Bauer forward a copy of the subcontract between EVCO and Cedar Street to substantiate EVCO's claims. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 134, l. 4 - p. 135, l. 5). Mr. Hostert testified he never received a response from Mr. Bauer regarding the subcontract, however, some time in March of 2005, Mr. Bauer again contacted Mr. Hostert to request payment. Thereafter, Mr. Bauer forwarded a copy of Exhibit 18 to Mr. Hostert, which Mr. Hostert understood to be a bid proposal. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 135, l. 6 - p. 136, l. 11).

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