UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-10-2008

EVCO Sound & Electronics v. Seaboard Sur. Co. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 34898

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court's Finding That "The Conduct of the Parties Shows a Meeting of the Minds Occurred and a Contract Was Formed in the Amount of \$132,688.04, less the Idaho Use Tax Amount of \$3,258.04, for a Total Contract Price of \$129,430" Was Based on Substantial Evidence and Should Not Be Overturned.

The district court's findings of fact are reviewed to determine whether the evidence supports the findings of fact, and whether the findings of fact support the conclusions of law. *Electrical Wholesale Supply Co., Inc. v Nielson*, 136 Idaho 814, 820, 41 P.3d 242, 248 (2001). In a court-tried case, the findings of fact are liberally construed on appeal in favor of upholding the judgment interest. *Id.* If the findings of fact are based on substantial evidence, even where that evidence is conflicting, they will not be overturned on appeal.

Barry, supra. (Emphasis added).

Seaboard attempts to legitimize its appeal by framing the issues as issues of law.

However, Seaboard's own words belie that. Seaboard framed the contract formation issues

on appeal as:

(1) Whether the district court erred by as a matter of law in holding that an express contract was established between EVCO and Cedar Street.

(2) Whether the district court erred as a matter of law in awarding EVCO's alleged expectation damages against Seaboard's bond.

A thorough reading of Seaboard's brief makes it clear that Seaboard's claim on appeal is that the trial court's finding that "the conduct of the parties shows a meeting of the minds occurred and a contract was formed . . . " was not based on substantial evidence. See, Seaboard's brief at p. 2.

Contrary to the legal conclusions of the Court, <u>the evidence failed to support</u> a meeting of the minds which is a necessary prerequisite to finding an express <u>contract</u>.

Seaboard's brief, p. 17 (emphasis added).

As detailed in the facts above, the trial court's findings (that there was an express contract), were supported by substantial evidence and by the trial court's resolution of conflicting testimony.

The absence of evidence can be substantial evidence. (See, R. P. 262, ¶ 18). There were obvious material gaps in evidence to support Seaboard's case at trial and on appeal. Cedar Street, a defendant in the lawsuit and one of the two contracting parties in the contract at issue, conceded all of EVCO allegations in EVCO's complaint by not responding and allowing a default judgment to be entered against it. (R., p. 252). There was no evidence that anyone from Cedar Street told EVCO that Cedar Street would not proceed without a

written or signed agreement. There was no evidence that anyone from EVCO told Cedar Street that EVCO would not proceed without a written or signed agreement. There was no evidence that Cedar Street had written subcontracts with its other subcontractors on the job. In fact, Mr. Kuzmich could not remember if other subcontracts existed. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 66, 1. 14-24). Cedar Street produced no purchase order or subcontract that it had available to it at the time of EVCO's bid. Mr. Coulter testified that he could not find a purchase order or subcontract at Cedar Street. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 42, l. 23- p. 43, l. 5). There was no evidence that anyone for Cedar Street even told anyone from EVCO that Cedar Street was considering reducing EVCO's scope of work much less actually taking steps to do so. There was no evidence that Mr. Kuzmich for Cedar Street contested EVCO's position that Exhibit 18 was the agreement between the parties when Mr. Hostert of Ormond Builders was investigating the Cedar Street - EVCO agreement late in the job. (Tr. Vol. II p. 135, 1. 15 - p. 137, 1. 20). There was no evidence that the not-to-exceed amount of \$130,000 figure in the third party check agreement drafted by Ormond came from anyone other than Cedar Street. There was no evidence that anyone ever objected to EVCO's work or to an EVCO invoice. There was no evidence as to how much Ormond paid the Idaho State Tax Commission or the Idaho Department of Labor on Cedar Street's behalf and obligations unrelated to the Project. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 218, l. 20 - p. 219, l. 9). Finally, there was no evidence of an accounting by either Cedar Street or Ormond on their subcontract. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 74, l. 7 - p. 75, l. 15; p. 215, l. 24 - p. 219, l. 9; p. 142, l. 22 - p. 143, l. 7).

The trial court entered detailed findings of fact based on the evidence that was presented then entered the critical finding that "the conduct of the parties shows a meeting of the minds occurred and a contract was formed ...". (R., p. 262, Finding of Fact No. 17). In its conclusions of law, the trial court set out specific evidence to support its findings:

The "scope of the work" was delineated in Exhibit 18. EVCO was told to begin work in Exhibit 14. Exhibit 18 establishes the contract price. EVCO did the work called for in Exhibit 18. Accordingly, Cedar Street, Ormond Builders and the School District received the benefit of EVCO's work., and those exhibits also establish the contract price.

(R., p. 270, Conclusion of Law B(2)(d).)

Other evidence supporting the court's finding of a meeting of the minds and the formation of a contract include: the scope of work and price were identified in documents. Exhibit 4, 8, 15, 18, "An Intent to Contract" and specific direction to perform were contained in Exhibit 14. This was followed by further direction to provide labor and material. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 68, 1. 21 - p. 69, 1. 4). EVCO responded by providing drawings, submittals, labor and material. (p. 247, 1. 7 - p. 248, 1. 4). Cedar Street performed its part of the low voltage systems consistent with Exhibits 4 and 18. (Tr., Vol. II, p. 240, 1. 14 - p. 243, 1. 3). Cedar Street told

Ormond the EVCO contract would not exceed \$130,000. Pay requests were submitted, processed and paid. (*See*, Tr., Vol. II, p. 207, 1. 9-19). Submittals, shop drawings, operations and maintenance items and as-builts were prepared and submitted consistent with Exhibits 4 and 18. Neither Mr. Kuzmich nor anyone else from Cedar Street ever contested Exhibit 18 as a substantial statement of the contract. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 136, 1. 25 - p. 137, 1. 20). Cedar Street defaulted in this action without contesting allegations by EVCO. Finally, and to some point significantly, Ormond had money left over on Cedar Street's subcontract even after unquantified payments to state agencies <u>unrelated to the project</u>. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 207, 1. 9-19).

The court's finding of a meeting of the minds and of a contract is based on substantial and competent evidence. *Barry, supra*.

B. The trial court's finding that "EVCO is owed \$76,105.00 on its subcontract with Cedar Street for materials and labor that EVCO provided to the Project" was based on substantial evidence.

The trial court's finding that \$76,105 was the "sum justly due" EVCO was based on substantial evidence. *See*, Idaho Code 54-1927.

The trial court found the contract amount to be \$129,430 not including Idaho Use Tax. (R., 262, Finding of Fact No. 17). The court found that there had been full performance of EVCO's work based upon the facts that all of the low voltage work had been accepted and paid for by the owner. (R., p. 264-265, Finding of Fact 23, 24). The court found that payments of only \$53,325 had been made to EVCO. (R., p. 265, Finding of Fact 25). The mathematical balance due after crediting these payments is \$76,105. (R., p. 265, Finding of Fact 25 and 26).

The Trial Court's Finding that the Sum Justly Due From Cedar Street to EVCO is Based on Substantial Evidence.

C. The Trial Court's Findings That EVCO Performed Original Contract Work on the Project on April 15, 2005, April 26, 2005 and on June 15, 2005 Were Based on Substantial Evidence.

The trial court found:

19. EVCO's, Dan Miller, conducted project training sessions for the School District on April 15, 2005. (Exhibit 21).

20. EVCO's, Larry Nipp, installed part of the Project television system on April 26, 2005. (Exhibit 22). EVCO completed its Project as-built drawings on June 15, 2005. (Exhibit 22).

. . . .

22. Scott Fisher testified that training of the owner School District on the low voltage systems was part of the original contract between the School District and Ormond Builders, as was final connection and tuning of the cable television system after hook-up to the street, as was submission of asbuilt drawings for the low voltage systems.

(R., p. 263-264, Finding of Fact, No. 19, 20, 22)

The findings are supported by substantial evidence. Dan Miller's training sessions were documented in time records. (Exhibit 22). The requirement for training was detailed

in the specifications. (Exhibit 3, Bates No. 341, 367). The timing of a training session was established by the specification to be 60 days after initial training which had taken place at substantial completion in February. (Ex. 3, Bates No. 367; Tr., Vol. II., p. 238, 1. 25 - p. 239, 1. 13). The School District had made a special request for the training. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 138, 1. 3-21). Ormond did not provide the training. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 169, 1. 9-24). Cedar Street did not provide the training. Finally, Scott Fisher, the Project architect, confirmed that training was part of the original contract work. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 229, 1. 15 - p. 230, 1. 5).

The court's finding relative to the television balance work were based on substantial evidence. The date and quantity of time required for the work were documented. (Exhibit 22). The balance work had been delayed by the cable installation. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 185, l. 19 - p. 186, l. 1). The Project architect, Scott Fisher, confirmed that this work was original contract work.

The court's finding relative to EVCO's production of as-built drawings was supported by substantial evidence. The date and hours of the labor was documented. (Exhibit 22). The Project pay requests reflect incomplete as-built work in June late May. (Ex. 25, Pay Application 13). As-built drawings for EVCO's work were specifically required by the specification. Exhibit 3. The Project architect, Scott Fisher, confirmed that as-builts were original contract work. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 230, l. 9-11).

D. The Trial Court's Findings of Fact Supporting its Conclusion That the Statute of Frauds Did Not Bar EVCO's Claim Is Based on Substantial Evidence.

The trial court in dismissing Seaboard's statute of frauds defense stated in pertinent

part:

EVCO's full performance takes the EVCO/Cedar Street contract out of the statute of frauds. When Cedar Street and Ormond Builders requested and obtained payment for the materials and equipment supplied by EVCO, the materials and equipment were accepted and the contract was taken out of the statute of frauds. Idaho Code § 28-2-201(3). Neither Cedar Street nor Ormond Builders objected in any way to the work and materials EVCO installed on the Project. Acceptance is a failure to reject or any act inconsistent with the sellers (EVCO in this case) ownership. Idaho Code § 28-2-606.

Additionally, Exhibit 18, satisfies the state of frauds. Idaho Code § 28-2-201(2) states: "between merchants if, within a reasonable time, arriving in confirmation of the contract and sufficient against the sender is received and the party receiving it has reason to know its contents, it satisfies the requirements of § 1(1) against such party unless written notice of objection to its contents if [sic] given within ten (10) days after it is received". Both EVCO and Cedar Street are merchants as defined by Idaho Code § 28-2-104(1). Exhibit 18 and Exhibit 8 were received by Cedar Street, and not only were they not objected to, but Cedar Street told *EVCO to start performing the work discussed*.

(R., p. 268, Conclusion of Law No. B(2)(c)).

Ormond received payment for EVCO's work. (Exhibit Q). Cedar Street was in turn

paid for all or nearly all of EVCO's work. (Tr. Vol. II, p. 207, 1. 9-19).

A merchant is "a person who deals in goods . . . involved in the transaction

Idaho Code § 28-2-104(1). Both EVCO and Cedar Street dealt in the goods required by the main contract. (Exhibit 8, 18, M).

E. Seaboard Has Failed to Show That the Trial Court Misapplied the Law on Contract Formation.

Seaboard has not asked this court to establish any new legal standards nor to modify

or clarify any existing standards. Scott, supra. The focus of Seaboard's appeal has been the

trial court's application of settled law to the facts.

The trial court discussed much of the authority cited by Seaboard in all of its briefing and explained why it was or was not applied. (R., 267-271). The trial court included a succinct summary of its findings and conclusions:

EVCO's contract with Cedar Street was expressed via the revised proposal shown by Exhibit 8 by EVCO was accepted by Cedar Street's statement of intent and request for performance of June 14, 2004, signed by Mike Coulter of Cedar Street. Exhibit 14. The contract was then modified by Exhibit 15 and 16 due to "value engineering" entered into between Cedar Street (with EVCO's input) and Ormond Builders, culminating in a revised contract scope and price memorialized in Exhibit 18. The only item that changed after Exhibit 18 was Cedar Street and EVCO orally agreed (Cedar Street dictated and EVCO did not argue) that the Idaho Use Tax would be deleted from that amount, and even *that* feature was documented in Exhibit 18 as EVCO wrote: "Note: if Cedar Street wants to hand the Use tax, you can delete it from our bid."

(R., 266, Conclusions of Law No. B(2)(a)).

The trial court also discussed and applied Barry v Pacific West Const., Inc., 140 Idaho

827, 103, P.3d 440 (2004) which was decided by this court but not cited by either party. The trial court found the *Barry* case to be "on point". (R., 269). The *Barry case, supra*, and *Miller Const. Co. v Stresstek*, 108 Idaho 187, 697 P.2d 1201 (Ct. App. 1985) (cited by Seaboard) are both strikingly similar to the instant case. As in the instant case, both cases involve public projects with public bidding. *Barry* at page 830; *Miller* at page 188. As in the instant case, a written contract was involved but not signed by the parties. *Barry* at page 830; *Miller* at page 188. As in the instant case, the courts in *Barry* and *Miller* found that the parties had made a contract despite the fact that a contemplated written contract was never signed by the parties. *Barry* at page 832; *Miller* at page 188.

The trial court has applied the settled law from this court's decision in *Barry, supra*, and the Court of Appeals decision in *Miller, supra*, to its findings which are based on substantial evidence.

F. Seaboard Has Failed to Show That the Trial Court Misapplied the Law on the Timeliness of EVCO's Claim.

The trial court, without citation, appears to have applied the bright line rule set out in *United States ex rel. Interstate Mechanical v International Fidelity Insurance Co.*, 200 F.3d

456 (2000):

[T]his court concludes the correction-or-repair versus original-contract test presents a useful framework to determine when the Miller Act's statute of limitations begins to run. The court in applying the bright line test of *Interstate, supra*, found the claim to be timely because it had found that EVCO had performed original scope work on April 15, April 26 and June 15, 2005. (R., 271-272).

V. CONCLUSION

Seaboard has done its best to confuse the issues of contract formation. It has accomplished nothing more than a tempest in a teapot.

The trial court found not only that there was a meeting of the minds and a contract formed but that the contract had been fully performed by EVCO. EVCO's claim against Seaboard under the bond statute is for "the sum or sums justly due [it]". All of the trial court's findings that were challenged by Seaboard were based on substantial evidence, including the findings and conclusions that EVCO is justly due \$76,105 together with interest and attorney fees.

Seaboard has not asked this court "to establish any new legal standards, nor modify or clarify any existing standards." *Scott, supra*. The narrow focus of Seaboard's appeal has been the application of settled law to the facts. *Scott, supra*. There was no showing that the

2

 Id^2

Interstate, supra, was cited with approval by Seaboard in its brief on summary judgment. (R. 49-51) and in its brief on appeal at page 39-40.

trial court misapplied the law. As a result, Seaboard's appeal was brought and pursued unreasonably and without foundation.

The trial court should be affirmed and EVCO should be awarded attorney fees on appeal $\neg \mathcal{T}\mathcal{W}$